A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

STEVEN P. KOZOL, the Appellant below, now petitions this 

Court to grant discretionary review of the decisions below as 

identified in Section II. 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Petitioner seeks review of the Court of Appeals published 

opinion dated Dece.-n.ber 1, 2015, and the Order Denying 

Reconsideration and A1nending Opinion dated January 12, 201 6. 

These decisions are attached hereto as Appendix A. 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1 • When a requestor brings an enforcement action under 

the Public Records Act to compel disclosure of withheld records, 

and during litigation the agency voluntarily produces previously 

withheld responsive records, does the Public Records Act require 

that the requestor be deerred the prevailing party, who is entitled 

to costs of suit, and any applicable attorneys fees? 

2. When a requestor explicitly requests a certain public 

record that the agency knows is comprised of multiple pages, 

can the agency withhold sane of the pages withhout claiming an 

exemption under the Public Records Act? 

3. When an agency knows that requested records are located 

in another location, but then intentionally fails to search that 

location, does such agency action constitute an inadequate search 

violating the Public Records Act? 
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4. When an agency silently withholds portions of requested 

public records, and then destroys the records before the pending 

request is judicially resolved, does such agency action violate 

the Public Records Act'? 

5. When an agency considers an alleged intent of a records 

requestor for seeking public records in its determination of 

whether records should be disclosed, does such agency action 

violate the Public Records Act? 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

There is considerable misconduct within the Department 

of Corrections (OOC) that is currently being exposed by the media 

to the public. This case expands on this misconduct. Irnnate 

Steven P. Kozol is conducting an investigation to expose illegal 

practices within the Department of Corrections. This misconduct 

includes "staff abusing the grievance process and destroying 

evidence submitted, 11 staff "destroying documents submitted in 

the course of resp:mding to irnnate grievances," and lX)C' s 

"complete failure or a partial failure to effectively process 

offender's canplaints on various issues." Clerk's Papers (CP) 

184. This misconduct also includes racially-biased and 

discriminatory practices in resolving irnnate grievances. CP 218. 

Based upon privileged knowledge that certain OOC grievance 

staff frequently wrote racially derogatory remarks on the front 

or back pages of inmate grievance fonns, Mr. Kozol began 

recruiting African-American inmates who had grievances processed 
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by these specific racially-biased staff, and he obtained hundreds 

of inmate grievance log i.d. numbers from these inrnates. 1 
Mr. 

Kozol also obtained additional grievance log i.d. numbers from 

other inmates who had "been mistreated in any grievances lately." 

CP 1 87. In total Mr. Kozol obtained "hundreds of log numbers, 

over a period of a year." CP 187. 

The Department of Corrections does not allow inmates to 

receive in the U.s. t·1ail public disclosure documents of other 

inmates' grievance records, and the JX)C may issue discretionary 

mail rejections on such documents. CP 263-267. To obtain 

specific inmate grievance documents through public disclosure 

Mr. Kozol enlisted the assistance of his attorney to receive 

the records produced by the Department. CP 219. Mr. Kozol 

submitted a first set of requests for 31 specific original inmate 

grievances to the Department. Each request sought "any and all 

records for inmate/ offender grievance } [ ] • This includes the 

original complaint fonn." CP 42-71 • The JX)C responded and 

assigned sequential tracking numbers to the requests, nos. 

PDU-18880 to PDU-18910, and expressly confirmed that each of 

Mr. Kozol' s requests sought a copy of "the original complaint 

fonn." CP 72-73. 

1 In depositions l'1r. Kozol declined to divulge this specific factual OOsis on the 
grot.mds of attorney-client privilege and protected work product. CP 184-185. He 
feared retaliation fran :rxx:: staff, so he slinpl y catagorized this issue as the 
"evidence base upon which I was go:ing to be investigat:ing and formulat:ing the cause 
of action for my civil suit in federal cotnt." CP 188. 

3 



On April 2, 2012, the Department notified Mr. Kozol that there 

were no responsive records to request no. PDU-18880, and closed 

the request. CP 77. As to the remaining 30 requests, r::x::>e produced 

between April 2, 2012 to April 16, 2012 what it purported to be 

all responsive records in their entirety by e-rnailing the records 

to Mr. Kozol 1 s dedicated e-mail account in the comnunity, and 

memorializing each record production in 30 separate letters sent 

to Mr. Kozol via u.s. Mail. Again, each of r::x::>C 1 s production letters 

expressly confinned that Mr. Kozol had sought "the original complaint 

fonn." CP 80-150. 

Mr. Kozol 1 s incarceration prohibited him fran reviewing the 

responsive record productions, so he had the records forwarded to 

his attorney. CP 21 9. With the assistance of counsel, Mr. Kozol 

identified that the r::x::>C had not produced t.h.e second pages of the 

original complaint/grievance forms he had requested. CP 219. Simply 

trying to get these withheld second pages, Mr. Kozol subrni tted from 

May 25, 2013 to July 5, 2013 a series of seven (7) different 

follow-up requests specifically notifying r::x::>C that it had silently 

withheld the second pages of each of the 31 original complaint forms. 

The roc never produced the second pages, never indicated it would 

search for them, and never stated any records had been destroyed. 

CP 1 3-14. Mr. Kozol then wrote an eighth follow-up letter on November 

22, 2013, again specifically requesting that the second pages of 

the requested original grievance forms be provided to him, but still 

the r::x::>e would not produce the specific second pages. CP 222-226. 
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With eight follow-up requests having been ignored by the DOC, 

Mr. Kozol filed suit, followed by a first amended canplaint on 

January 8, 2014. CP 11-16. On April 10, 2014, after being served 

with the lawsuit, the r:x:x::: produced four ( 4 ) record pages t..hat had 

been silently withheld in request no. PDU-18880. CP 78. 

However, the r:x:x::: never produced any of the silently withheld second 

pages of the 31 requested original complaint/grievance forms 

specifically requested by Mr. Kozol. CP 232. 

In discovery the r:x:x::: admitted that it knew each of the 31 

requested "original" complaint/ grievance forms were canprised of 

two pages, a front and a back of a double-sided piece of paper. 

CP 228. The r:x:x::: also identified in discovery that· eight ( 8) 

different (two-page) original grievances responsive to requests 

nos. PDU-18880, 18881, 18897, and 18907-18910 were destroyed after 

Mr. Kozol requested the records. CP 253-256. Further, DOC admitted 

that the original grievance documents had been "destroyed after 

Plaintiff's initial February 8, 2012 records requests in this case." 

CP 397. 

The DOC moved for sumnary judgment dismissal of Mr. Kozol' s 

claims. While the r:x:x::: filed two supporting declarations in its 

dispositive motion, neither established how or where the searches 

were conducted for 30 of these requests, PDU-18881 to PDU-18910. 

One declaration touched on how records were located in a single 

request, PDU-1 8880, but spoke nothing to the searches in the 

remaining 30 requests. CP 35-37. The other declaration merely 

discussed general agency practices of how inmate (paper) grievance 
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files are scanned into a computer database, but completely failed 

to discuss how any searches were conducted for 30 specific requests, 

nos. PDU-18881 to PDU-18910. CP 152-153. 

In its surrmary judgment motion the r:x:x:: argued its records 

searches were adequate, and attempted to explain its failure to 

produce the second pages of these 31 records by asserting that "the 

DOC did not deny or refuse the Plaintiff from reviewing the back 

page of [the original grievance fonns] as it did not consider the 

document to be responsive to the Plaintiff's requests," as the 

withheld second pages are "merely instructional for the offender." 

CP 29. This was based, according to the Department, upon its sworn 

declaration evidence where DOC staff testified under penalty of 

perjury that the second pages of original inmate grievance fonns 

are not used by inmates or staff in the grievance process and 

therefore are "not considered" part of a "grievance record." CP 29, 

152-153. 

To contradict this assertion, Hr. Kozol filed numerous examples 

of these pages that were used by inmates or staff in the agency's 

grievance process. CP 403-456. Mr. Kozol argued that the JX)C failed 

to establish how it searched for the 31 requests, as the DOC's 

declaration evidence was deficient on surrmary judgment. CP 208-21 o. 

Mr. Kozol also argued that the DOC's admitted destruction of at 

least eight ( 8) of the withheld original (two-page) grievances 

violated the PRA. CP 204-208. Mr. Kozol also argued that IXX:' s 

summary judgment dismissal was precluded by its production of 

responsive records in request no. PDU-18880 after Kozol filed suit, 
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which required that he be found to be the prevailing party and be 

awarded all expenses of litigation. CP 212-215. 

The trial court granted the lXC' s motion for sumnary judgment, 

found that the agency's records searches were adequate, and that 

there was no violation of the PRJ\. CP 354-364. Mr. Kozol moved 

for reconsideration. CP 365-456. The trial court denied the motion. 

CP 462-469. The Court of Appeals affirmed the sumnary judgment 

dismissal, detennining that (a) there was no PRA violation because 

no responsive records were destroyed after Mr. Kozol requested them; 

(b) despite the agency producing responsive records after being 

serv~ with the lawsuit, Mr. Kozol was not the prevailing party 

and was not entitled to costs of suit; (c) the JX)C' s record searches 

were adequate; (d) the Court accepted the JXC' s argument that Mr. 

Kozel's intent behind requesting the public records was a scheme 

to make money off of the PRA. Appendix A. 

Mr. Kozol timely moved for reconsideration. Concomitantly 

the lXC moved for publication of the December 1 , 201 5 unpublished 

opinion. Appendix B. Mr. Kozol responded to the motion to publish 

by pointing out that the Court's ruling appeared to be in direct 

conflict with controlling case law and statutory authority, and 

as such, publication would appear to be improper. The Court denied 

Mr. Kozol' s motion for reconsideration, but modified its opinion 

to recognize that responsive records were destroyed after Mr. Kozol 

requested them, but held no PRA violation occurred. Appendix A. 

Publication was granted. Appendix A. Mr. Kozol now seeks review. 

7 



E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

1 • There Exists A Conflict Between the Court of Appeals' 
Decision and the Deci'sions of the SUpreme Court and 
Statutory Authority as to Prevailing Party statUs and 
Award of Costs of SUit Under RCW 42.56.550{4) 

On appeal Mr. Kozol argued that surrnnary judgment dismissal 

was improper because "Defendant 1 s production of responsive records 

after litigation commenced rendered Plaintiff the prevailing party, 

precluding 1 show cause 1 dismissal." Opening Brief of Appellant, 

at 8. As such, Mr. Kozol also sought an award of "all costs and 

expenses, and [prospectively] attorney fees if counsel is retained." 

Opening Brief of Appellant, at 4 9. 

The Court of Appeals 1 published opinion stated that " [ d] uring 

discovery, the ~ located and disclosed the grievance records 

responsive to request PDU-18880." Published Opinion, at 3. Then 

the Court stated that because Mr. Kozol was pro se "he could not 

have received attorney fees even if he had prevailed." Opinion 

at 3, n.3. Mr. Kozol was denied his costs of suit. Because the 

Court of Appeals determined that responsive records were produced 

by the agency after Mr. Kozol filed suit to canpel production, but 

deterrnined that Mr. Kozol was not the prevailing party and was not 

entitled to costs of suit, this published ruling is in direct 

conflict with controlling case law and statutory authority. 

"The Public Records Act clearly and emphatically prohibits 

silent withholding by agencies of records relevant to a public 

records request." Progressive Animal Tftielfare Soc. v. Univ. of Wash., 

125 Wn.2d 243, 270, 884 P.2d 592 (1994). "'flithholding a nonexempt 
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document is 'wrongful withholding' and violates the PRA." Sanders 

v. State, 169 Wn.2d 827, 836, 240 P.3d 120 (2010). 

Under the Public Records Act, a claimant "prevails" against 

an agency if the agency wrongfully withheld the documents. Genneau 

v. Mason County, 166 Wh.App. 789, 811, 271 P.3d 932 (2012). 

"'Prevailing' relates to the legal question of whether the records 

should have been disclosed on request." Neigh.borhood Alliance of 

Spokane County v. Spokane County, 172 1i'ln.2d 702, 726, 261 P.3d 119 

(2011) (emphasis in original). Under the PRA, an award of costs against 

an agency who wrongfully withholds records is mandatory. Yousoufian 

v. Office of Ron Sims, 152 wn.2d 421, 433, 98 P.3d 463 (2004). 

"Government agencies may not resist disclosure of public records until 

a suit is filed and then, by disclosing them voluntarily, avoid paying 

[costs of suit and penalties]." West v. Thurston County, 144 ~m.l\pp. 

573, 581, 183 P.3d 346 (2008). 

As the prevailing party compelling disclosure, .Mr. Kozel is 

entitled to an award of all costs of litigation. RCW 42.56.550(4); 

Robbins, Geller, Rudman & D:>wd LLP v. State, 179 TtJn.App. 711, 736, 

328 P.3d 905 (2014). "The prevailing party in an action against a 

state agency to obtain access to a public record is entitled to costs." 

Gendler v. Baptiste, 174 wn.2d 244, 251-52, 274 P.3d 346 (2012). 

Mr. Kozel, as the prevailing party compelling disclosure, would also 

be entitled to all costs on appeal. Adams v. WIXlC, 2015 WL 5124168 

*7 (No. 32012-0, Div.3, Sept. 1, 2015). 

With the publication of this opinion below, there now exists 

authority for agencies to avoid reimbursing requestors and paying 
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for attorney fees of parties having to resort to litigation to compel 

disclosure of withheld responsive records. This is contrary to not 

only the plain statutory language and legislative intent of the PRA, 

but is also contrary to Washington jurisprudence reaching as far back 

as Columbian Pub. Co. v. Vancouver, 36 wn.App. 25, 33, 671 P.2d 280 

( 1983) • Respectfully, because the ruling below conflicts with prior 

decisions and express statutory authority, and because this is an 

issue of substantial public interest, the Court should accept review 

pursuant to RAP 13.4 (b). 

2. 'Ihe DecisiOn Below Conflicts With Prior Decisions and 
Statutory Authority, and FactUally the Court of Appeals 
Erred When It Found Destroyed Records Were Not 
Responsive to the Records Requests 

After Mr. Kozol moved for reconsideration on appeal, the 

Court's opinion below was amended to include a footnote 

acknowledging that, 

"[t]here is some evidence that several of the physical 
canplaint forms were not destroyed until after Mr. Kozol' s 
records requests. Regardless, because the back sides of 
these forms contained only boilerplate instructions and 
were not substantively employed in the grievance process, 
they were not records reasonably identifiable for Mr. 
Kozol' s requests for records on specific grievances." 

Appendix A (Order Amending Opinion) • Nevertheless, the published 

opinion finding no PRA violation occurred remains in conflict 

with prior decisions of this Court, and is not supported by fact. 

First, by the clear facts that the JX)C destroyed eight 

original (double-sided) grievances by shredding them after Mr. Kozol 

specifically requested them, these constitute eight separate violations 
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of the PRA. Under RCW 42.56.100, an agency is prohibited from 

destroying records scheduled for destruction if t.l-Ie agency receives 

a public records request "at a time when such record exists." Fisher 

Broadcasting- Seattle TV LLC v. City of Seattle, 180 Wn.2d 515, 541, 

326 P. 3d 688, 701 ( 2014) • "Destruction of a requested record violates 

the PRA." Neighborhood Alliance, 172 Wn.2d at 750 (Madsen, c.J., 

concurring) • 

Each original grievance fonn is a double-sided piece of paper. 

CP 155-156. IX>C identified eight original grievance fonns were 

"shred[ded]" after Mr. Kozol 's requests were made: PDU-18880, 18881, 

18897, and 18907-18910. CP 253-256. When viewing the facts in the 

light most favorable to Mr. Kozol on Sl.li1IIla.rY judgment, it is impossible 

to only "shred" a single side of a double-sided piece of paper. It 

is therefore irrmaterial whether IX>C may have thought the second pages 

were not responsive, because IX>C admits the front pages were 

responsive, yet it destroyed these as well in all eight post-request 

destructions. 

Mr. Kozol still had the right to clarify or expand his requests 

as necessary. In fact, he wrote eight follow-up requests specifically 

seeking the second pages, but IXlC feigned ignorance. CP 13-14, 

222-226. Mr. Kozol still had the right to have his attorney personally 

inspect the double-sided original paper fonns he requested. See 

Sappenfield v. Dept .. _of Corrections, 127 Wn.App. 83, 88-89, 110 P.3d 

808 (2005)(when a requestor cannot inspect records-- because of 

incarceration, for example -- the agency should allow a representative 
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of the requestor to inspect them. ) The destruction of the original 

first/front page of each original grievance violated the PRA. 

Second, turning to the second page, the very nature of the 

back/ second page of an original grievance containing "boilerplate 

instructions" for the grievance process makes it by definition part 

of the grievance process. By the instructions, certain issues are 

not grievable. CP 156. DOC's creation of the instructions, and 

labeling the page "DOC 05-165 Back," makes it axianatic that this 

page is used in the grievance process by sane inmates or staff. 

otherwise there is no purpose of the infonnation. The Deparbnent 

cannot attempt to vanquish a material fact through sheer intent of 

a superseding declaration. Mere conclusory declaration evidence is 

insufficient on surrmary judgment. Grimwood v. Univ. _of Puget Sound, 

110 wn.2d 355, 359, 753 P.2d 517 (1988). 

Third, because the Deparbnent destroyed these eight original 

double-sided documents, there is no way to prove the pages only 

contained boilerplate instructions. By using other PRA requests as 

a discovery device, Mr. Kozol requested only "back" pages of original 

grievances for a six-year period. CP 259-262. This request, 

PDU-28154, yielded original back pages of grievance forms that 

contained no "boilerplate instructions" whatsoever. CP 411-419. 

Moreover, through these same extracurricular PR~ requests Mr. Kozol 

clearly proved that the second/back pages of original grievance forms 

contained more than just ''boilerplate instructions," including proof 

that inmates frequently used the back pages in the substantive 

grievance process, including continuing the grievance onto the back 
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page. CP 411-419. :r::oc even identified that staff write 

process/routing codes on the back pages to process grievances and 

direct them via campus mail. CP 259-262. 

The :r::oc confinned the "original complaint fonn" was sought in 

each request. CP 72-73, 80-150. The DJC admitted it knew each 

"original complaint fonn" is comprised of two pages. CP 228. As 

a matter of law Mr. Kozel requested the ·complete complaint fonns, 

not just partial pages. " [If] the agency was unclear a.l:Jout what was 

requested, it was required to seek clarification." Neighborhood 

Alliance, 172 wn.2d at 727. It is not a requestor's duty to ferret 

out or to know beforehand what a requested record is comprised of 

or how many pages a certain record contains; that would be antithetical 

to the purpose of "public disclosure." 

No requestor could ever obtain judicial in-camera review of 

withheld records under the PRA if an agency provides a copy of a 

specifically requested "original" document, yet then destroys the 

requested original. This is the polar opposite of the strong public 

policy behind transparency of goverrunent activity that the Act was 

intended to ensure to interested parties. No court can now detennine 

if the DJC silently redacted, e.g., "whited out" embarrassing, 

inculpatory, or prejudicial infonnation before computer scanning the 

front pages of these original grievances, and the contents of the 

front and back pages is now forever lost to the self-serving whims 

of the Deparbnent of Corrections. As the record shows, the DJC has 

used this tactic before of destroying inculpatory inmate grievances. 

Appendix c. Apparently, the Department answers to no one but itself. 
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"When a PRA request is made, a government agency must hold onto 

the records, including their metadata; they cannot be [destroyed]." 

O'Neill v. City of Shoreline, 170 Wn.2d 138, 150, 240 P.3d 1149 (2010). 

The Court of Appeals' published opinion is not supported by the 

uncontroverted facts, and it is contrary to law. "If the undisputed 

facts in the record do not support the Court of Appeals' holdings 

as a matter of law, these holdings are subject to reversal by this 

court." L.K. aperating, LLC v. -Collection Group, LLC, 181 Wn.2d 48, 

72, 331 P.3d 1147, 1157 (2014)(citing DGHI Enters~ v. Pac-Cities, 

Inc., 137 Wn.2d 933, 942-43, 977 P.2d 1231 (1999)). Because the 

published opinion below conflicts with the undisputed facts in the 

record, and conflicts with prior decisions, this Court should accept 

review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b). Further, the Court should accept 

review under RAP 1 3. 4 (b) because this issue of a state agency 

destroying silently withheld records of agency misconduct is of 

substantial public interest. 

3. The Court of Appeals' IJeci'sian Conflicts With Prior 
I.lecisions as to What Constitutes an Inadequate Search 
for Records Under the Public Records Act 

The :OOC argued that its failing to produce the second pages of 

the original grievance fonns was not the result of an inadequate search, 

because the :OOC does not scan the second pages of original grievances 

into the canputerized "grievance record," and therefore when it searched 

for the "grievance records" it did not consider the second pages to 

be responsive. CP 29-30, 152-153. However, as established above, 

there is no merit to the :OOC' s attempt to justify silent withholding 

by claiming the pages are never scanned into the computerized "grievance 
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record." Clearly, the IX>C produced over 1 , 000 separate second/back 

pages of original grievance fonns from its computer database "grievance 

record." CP 259-271. 

But more importantly, because IX>C knew resr::onsi ve records were 

located in another location other than its computerized 11grievance 

record," it had a duty to also search that location. The IX>C did not 

do this, and therefore its search was inadequate as a matter of law. 

IX>C established· its practice is to specifically, intentionally not 

canputer scan the second/back page of each original paper grievance 

when scanning documents to create the computerized 11grievance record. "2 

CP 152-153. After electronically scanning the first/ front page of 

each paper grievance, the original (two-page) fonns are retained at 

least six months in the local prison files, and are eventually 

destroyed. CP 247-248. Most importantly, in resr::onding to other 

similar records requests for grievance documents, the DOC has previously 

reviewed the original (two-page) paper grievances and other documents 

retained in the local files that were scheduled for destruction. CP 

153. 

ur::on these uncontroverted facts, the IX>C knew that the original 

(two-page) grievances existed, or would have reasonably existed, in 

its paper file system. In fact, at least eight ( 8) of these original 

(two-page) grievances did exist, as they were not destroyed until after 

Mr. Kozol sutmitted his requests. Ante. Therefore, because IX>C 

intentionally did not search the one location where it knew the 

2 As discussed earlier, there is no evidence in the record of how these specific 
31 grievances were processed or scarmed. The declaration evidence is rrerely general, 
conclusory assertions of fact. 
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responsive records existed, its record searches are inadequate, which 

violated the PRA. 

This is virtually the identical situation that this Court reviewed 

in Neighborhood Alliance, where the agency's argument was that the 

location of responsive records retained in one computer did not have 

to be searched because the canputer had been rroved, and replaced with 

a new canputer, and the agency' s search was lirni ted to the new canputer 

that did not contain the records. Neighborhood Alliance, 172 wn.2d 

at 721-23. 

This Court rejected the agency's argument that its search was 

adequate, stating, "[i]f the agency, after establishing the primary 

source of requested information, finds that the information is not 

there, it may not assert the information has been rroved so as to avoid 

its duty to search." Id., at 723. Rather, "the agency must determine 

where the information has been rroved and conduct a search there, where 

reasonable." Id. 

The published opinion below is unsupported by the facts and 

squarely conflicts with Neighborhood Alliance. Not only do both cases 

involve requestors seeking evidence of agency misconduct, but similar 

to Neighl?orhood Alliance, here the DJC intentionally did not scan the 

second pages into its computer database and intentionally retained 

it in a different paper file system, then limited its searches to the 

computer database when providing Mr. Kozel records. Because 1XJC' s 

sworn declaration stated it previously searched the paper files when 

responding to other records requests, not only does its intentional 
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failure to search this same location in Mr. Kozol's requests violate 

the requirement under RCW 42.56.080 that agencies are not to 

differentiate between requestors, but DOC cannot now feign ignorance 

by purposefully limiting its search to avoid producing records of agency 

misconduct. This Court stated, 

11 [A] gencies are required to make more than a perfunctory search 
and to follow obvious leads as they are uncovered. The search 
should not be limited to one or more places if there are 
additional sources for the infonnation requested. Indeed, the 
agency cannot limit its search to only one record system if there 
are others that are likely to turn up the infonnation requested ... 

Neighborhood Alliance, 172 Wn.2d at 720 (internal quotation marks and 

citations anitted) •

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