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

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED 

A. The Court of Appeals Ruling That the Back Page of the 
Grievance Form Was Not Responsive to Kozol's Request Is 
Consistent with Existing Case Law 

The Court of Appeals held that the back page of the grievance 

form was not responsive to Kozol's request for grievance documents 

because the back page contained only boilerplate instructions that are not 

used in processing or resolving inmate grievances. This holding is 

consistent with prior case law and supported by the evidence. 

Under the PRA, the "record sought must be reasonably 

identifiable." RCW 42.56.080; Gendler v. Batiste, 174 Wn.2d 244, 252, 

274 P.3d 346 (2012). An identifiable public record is "one for which the 

requestor has given a reasonable description enabling the government 

employee to locate the requested record." Beal v. City of Seattle, 150 

Wn. App. 865, 872, 209 P.3d 872 (2009); see also WAC 44-14-04002(2) 

(an "identifiable record" is one agency staff can "reasonably locate"). In 

this regard, the PRA does not require agencies to be mind readers or to 

produce records that have not been requested. Bonamy v. City of Seattle, 

92 Wn. App. 403, 409, 960 P.2d 447 (1998), review denied 137 Wn.2d 

1012, 978 p .2d 1099 (1999). 

The Court of Appeals' decision is based on a straightforward 

application of this principle. Kozol submitted requests that sought any and 
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all records for specific inmate grievances, including the original complaint 

form. While the grievance form contains a back information page, that 

page is merely instructional for the offender. CP 152, 156. None of the 

information on the back page of the grievance form is used to process the 

offender's grievance because it is not considered to be part of the 

grievance record. CP 153. For the same reasons, it is not scanned and 

maintained as part of the official grievance record. CP 153. Therefore, 

when Kozol's requests for documents related to grievances was processed, 

the Department did not identify or consider the back page of the grievance 

form to be part of the offender grievance complaint, nor did the 

Department consider the back page to be responsive to his request. 

CP 153. The Department's decision to provide only the portions of the 

grievance records that it considered part of the official packet, including 

the offender grievance itself, was based on a reasonable interpretation of 

Kozol's request. Again, it is well established that agencies do not violate 

the PRA by providing only those records that are reasonably identifiable 

as being responsive to the request. In holding the Department was only 

required to produce records which were reasonably identifiable as 

responsive, the Court of Appeals applied well established statutory 

interpretation and case law. Therefore, the Court of Appeals decision does 

not conflict with other cases and this Court should deny review. 

8 



B. The Court of Appeals Ruling That the Department Conducted 
an Adequate Search for Records Is Consistent With Existing 
Case Law 

The Court of Appeals correctly held that the Department did not 

violate the PRA because it produced all responsive records that it located 

after a reasonable search. Kozol, 2015 WL 9915869, at *3. An agency 

does not violate the PRA when it conducts an adequate search for records, 

even if additional responsive documents are later found. Block v. City of 

Gold Bar, 189 Wn. App. 262, 270-71, 355 P.3d 266 (2015); Hobbs v. 

State, 183 Wn. App. 925, 945, 335 P.3d 1004 (2014). The Court of 

Appeals' decision was based on well-established case law and Kozol has 

not identified any case in which a court has found a PRA violation existed 

despite an adequate search for records. 

Kozol argues the Department failed to perform an adequate search 

because it did not hand search the grievance records for documents 

responsive to his requests. However, the Court of Appeals found that an 

additional hand search was unnecessary as the Department met the 

reasonable search requirement by checking the Liberty system and also 

inquiring with the Statewide Grievance Coordinator to ensure the 

grievance did not exist. Kozol, 2015 WL 9915869, at *3. This decision is 

consistent with this Court's adequate search requirement in Neighborhood 

Alliance v. County of Spokane, 172 Wn.2d 702,261 P.3d 119 (2011). 
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The proper inquiry under the PRA is not whether the grievance 

existed but whether the Department conducted an adequate search to 

locate the records. See Neighborhood Alliance, 172 Wn.2d at 720-21. In 

that case, the county searched the computer an employee had only recently 

been assigned for responsive records. !d. at 712. The county did not 

inquire as to whether the employee had a different computer, nor did it 

search the old computer or any shared server. !d. at 712-713. This Court 

held the agency had a duty to search for the records in all places it knew 

the record could likely be located and the agency had the burden of 

establishing through affidavits the locations searched were "all places 

likely to contain responsive materials." !d. at 720-721. Because the agency 

did not search the employee's previous computer or ensure the 

information was not located in another database, this Court found the 

agency's search to be inadequate. !d. at 721-723. 

The Court of Appeals applied the Neighborhood Alliance standards 

and found the Department performed more than a perfunctory search for 

the grievance record it was initially unable to locate. 2 !d. at 721. The Court 

noted the Department initially searched the Liberty database, as that was 

2 After Kozol filed this lawsuit, the grievance was found at Airway Heights 
Corrections Center when looking for documents responsive to Kozol's discovery 
requests. An additional review of Liberty indicated the grievance had never been entered 
and scanned into the database. CP 37. 
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the location the record was likely to be stored since all of the grievances 

were scanned and maintained in this location. Kozol, 2015 WL 9915869, 

at *3. In addition, the Court found the Department then conducted an 

additional inquiry to ensure there were no other locations the record would 

likely be located when it sought out information from the Statewide 

Grievance Coordinator. Kozol, 2015 WL 9915869, at *3. After the 

Grievance Coordinator informed the Department's public records 

coordinator that the grievance record did not exist in the grievance 

database, the Department had no reason to believe the record would be 

located anywhere else. Kozol, 2015 WL 9915869, at *3. Consistent with 

this Court's Neighborhood Alliance decision, the Court held because the 

Department looked in all areas where the grievance record was likely to be 

found, its search for records was adequate. Kozol, 2015 WL 9915869, at 

*3. Accordingly, this Court should deny review because the decision 

below is well-reasoned and does not conflict with Neighborhood Alliance. 

C. The Court of Appeals' Ruling That Kozol Was Not the 
Prevailing Party and Therefore Was Not Entitled to an Award 
of Costs Is Consistent With Existing Case Law 

In addition, Kozol asserts the Court of Appeals ruling conflicts 

with case law because the subsequent production of responsive records to 

his request under PDU-18880 renders him the prevailing party, thereby 

precluding dismissal of his case without an award of costs. However, this 
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argument tgnores case law establishing that an agency's subsequent 

discovery of responsive records does not itself create a viable PRA claim. 

To be a prevailing party, a requestor must establish a PRA violation. 

Kitsap County Prosecuting Attorney's Guild v. Kitsap County, 156 

Wn. App. 110, 119, 231 P.3d 219 (2010). Here, there was no violation 

because a reasonable search was conducted in the database where the 

grievance record should have been stored. As such, Kozol was not a 

prevailing party. 

Further, this case does not conflict with the court's ruling in West 

v. Thurston County, 144 Wn. App. 573, 183 P.3d 346 (2008), where the 

court awarded costs when the agency voluntarily turned over the records 

after litigation began. In that case, the agency purposefully refused to 

respond to the request for records. West, 144 Wn. App at 347-348. Only 

after the requestor filed litigation, did the agency provide him with copies 

of the records he was requesting. West, 144 Wn. App at 347-349. In this 

matter, the Department was unaware it was holding documents responsive 

to Kozol's request until after litigation began. Those documents were 

discovered in a location where they were unexpected to be found and 

when they were discovered, they were promptly provided to Kozol. CP 37. 

As noted above, the Court of Appeals decision is consistent with both 
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statute and case law and is clearly supported by the evidence. Therefore, 

this Court should deny review. 

D. The Court of Appeals Ruling Did Not Hold an Agency Is 
Permitted to Consider the Requestor's Intent Behind the PRA 
Request 

Finally, Kozol asserts the Court of Appeals held that an agency is 

permitted to consider the requestor's intent when responding to the 

request. Although the Court acknowledged Kozol's money-making 

scheme, it did not hold the Department was allowed to consider Kozol's 

motivations when searching for records and responding to his requests. 

Therefore, this is not a basis for granting review. 

Further, while RCW 42.56.080 does not require a requestor 

provide the purpose of his public disclosure request, it does require an 

agency produce records that are identifiable. The email evidence shows 

Kozol knew he was asking for records that would not be identified as 

responsive to his request. CP 481-528. 

Kozol's correspondence clearly indicates he sought to trick the 

Department and misuse the PRA by ensuring his requests were evasive, 

only including the "new" forms that would contain a front and back page, 

and "recruiting passers-by" to obtain their grievance number information. 

CP 481-528. Such information was probative as to whether the records 

Kozol sought were identifiable records. 
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In addition, Kozol raised his own explanation for requesting the 

records in his response to the Show Cause Motion, contending that he 

needed the grievances as evidence to file a civil rights claim alleging 

mismanagement of the grievance system. CP 218. But this was 

contradicted by evidence in the record that Kozol requested the grievances 

in order to file an "avalanche" of PRA lawsuits. CP 501. The record shows 

that Kozol saw "no need to print any of the content" of the records he was 

requesting. CP 512. Kozol' s strategy to file his lawsuits in multiple 

counties to ensure his cases would not be considered duplicative and 

consolidated shows an intent to maximize recovery. CP 515-521. 

Accordingly his request for review should be denied, as the information 

contained in his own emails was material and probative to the issue of 

whether Kozol requested an identifiable record. 

Ill 

Ill 

Ill 

Ill 

Ill 

Ill 

Ill 

Ill 
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V. CONCLUSION 

The Court of Appeals decision in this case is carefully reasoned, it 

is consistent with case law, and. it correctly interprets and applies statutory 

authority. None ofthe criteria for accepting review under RAP 13.4(b) are 

satisfied. Therefore,. the Department asks this Court to deny review.